IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONALD ELDRENAL JENKINS, : Petitioner, : vs. : STATE OF FLORIDA, : Respondent. : :

: Case No. SC06-839

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CAROL J. Y. WILSON Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0368512

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Second District Court of Appeal below ruled that a strip search conducted of an eighteen-year-old detainee's buttocks in a commercial gas station parking lot located adjacent to two busy thoroughfares during normal business hours was constitutionally permissible and, although in violation of Florida's strip search statute, did not require the application of the exclusionary rule. Jenkins v. State, 924 So.2d 20 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006). The district court certified conflict with the Fourth District's decision in D.F. v. State, 682 So.2d 149 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), in which the district court held that the exclusionary rule is an appropriate remedy for enforcement of the legislatively mandated standards for police conduct during strip searches. Id. at 34.

On January 15, 2003, an unknown confidential informant (CI) telephoned someone named "D" with a police cellular telephone in the presence of some Tampa police officers of a street level narcotics unit.(R165-167). The CI telephoned "D," because he said he had bought drugs from him in the past. (R171). The police had no details about the past sale, such as what drug was purchased, under what circumstances, for how much money, or how the seller stored the drugs he sold. (R171). The only description of this "D" seller was that he

was a tall black male who would be driving a brown boxy fourdoor Chevy. (R167, 171). There was no evidence presented regarding where the sale itself was to occur, under what circumstances, or what quantity of cocaine was involved.

After the cellular telephone conversation ended, the CI told the lead female police officer, Officer Daniel, that in fifteen minutes "D" was going to arrive at a Texaco gas station located in a fairly busy intersection with a medium volume of consumer traffic. (R175-176). Because of the CI's identification of a certain car that pulled into the busy Texaco gas station, Officer Rego pulled his firearm on the driver, eighteen-year-old Donald Jenkins, and placed him in handcuffs, without asking his name. (R179, 186-187). Officer Bonollo searched his car and person for cocaine. (193, 200, 202, 204). Finding none, the officer got permission from the group sergeant "to see if it was inside his clothing anywhere" and to "do what I need to do." (R193, 202-203). During the course of the search, a medium number of people drove in and out of the gas station. (R176). In the presence of the entire 8 to 10 person squad, (R196), including female officer Daniel, (R212), in the gas station (Jenkins v. State, 924 So.2d at 29) or drug store parking lot (R212-213), Officer Bonollo testified he "opened up the defendant's boxer shorts and inside his butt crack sticking up was a sandwich bag, like a regular Ziploc type of sandwich bag and it was twisted. The

dope, the crack cocaine was at the bottom. It was twisted up and I could see the top of the plastic about two inches." (R193-194). Officer Bonollo testified that he reached inside Mr. Jenkins' boxer shorts and pulled out the baggie that was tucked in between the buttocks. (R204).

Donald Jenkins was charged with one count of possession of cocaine with intent to sell or deliver. (R8-9). The defense filed a motion to suppress evidence on the grounds that the police had no basis to stop him, or probable cause to arrest him, and because the police had conducted an open illegal strip search in a public area. (R15-22). A hearing was held on the suppression motion before Judge Rex Barbas on September 17, 2003. (R161).

Officer Kellie Daniel testified at the hearing that she had used the CI for similar "page-outs" three or four times previously over an unknown time span. Officer Daniel described a "page-out" as "when we call the people up to have them deliver a quality of cocaine to a certain location." (R170). Those prior page-outs resulted in arrests, although one time "the guy [suspect] got spooked," and left the area. (R170).

In this case the police stayed across the street from the Texaco station, while the CI went to the Texaco parking lot. (R168). Officer Daniel saw the CI from across the street from the Texaco station when a 4-door brown car had pulled into the

Texaco parking lot. (R168). The arranged signal for identifying the seller was supposed to be the CI taking off his hat. (R177). Instead of the CI taking off his hat, he ran across the street to the officer yelling, "That's him, that's him." (R168). A brown 4-door Pontiac parked in the Texaco lot, and the CI identified that car. (R168, 196-197).

Prior to the search, Officer Bonollo's only information was that Mr. Jenkins had drugs. (R201). Officer Bonollo had no information that Mr. Jenkins was armed with a weapon. (R201). A search of Mr. Jenkins immediately after he was taken out of his car did not revealed any drugs to the police. (R201).

Mr. Jenkins testified on his own behalf that the police pulled over another car and searched the occupant in the same manner he was searched. (R208-209). The police officers agreed that another car was stopped along with Mr. Jenkins, and stated the car was stopped because the CI told the police that car had drugs in it as well. (R208-213). Mr. Jenkins testified that the police forced him to bend over, had pulled down his pants and underwear down to his knees, exposing his naked body in a public place. (R206-207). Then the police searched into his rear end. (R206).

Judge Barbas denied the motion to suppress on the grounds that the CI's identification prior to the arrest provided the police with exigent circumstances and probable cause to search

the car and Mr. Jenkins' underwear and buttocks. (R225-226).

In so ruling, the trial court stated the following:

I believe the exigent circumstances are because of the mobility of the car indeed itself, that there was probable cause to believe that either contraband was on him or in his motor vehicle. The exigent circumstances are created by the mobility of the situation and the short time sequence between the time the police became aware of the information and the time the information was to be executed.

It was only 15 minutes. There was no time in order to get a search warrant and to try to get a search warrant in that situation is not warranted under the case law as enunciated by the United States Supreme Court and our own Florida Supreme Court and the Third District Court of Appeals and the Second District Court of Appeals.

Additionally, the facts given by this confidential informant were sufficient to constitute probable cause to search the defendant and the motor vehicle had it have been placed into a search warrant.

He was identified along with his motor vehicle. If all those facts were placed in the four corners of a search warrant affidavit, that he identifies the defendant as he's going into the service station, that a buy was set up with him to deliver a quantity of cocaine, that it was supposed to take place in fifteen minutes and fifteen minutes later he shows up in a car matching that description, all these cases are because the description is for the police officer to go out later to try and identify them. That's what Judge Altenbernd is talking about the in Highsmith case.

In this case, you have the confidential informant identifying the defendant and the vehicle. You don't need any greater description than that. . . .

They have a right to search. It's an exigent circumstance because of potential destruction of the material involved and because of the small quantity and the small amount of time that the police had in order to take custody of him, in order to search him and that vehicle. Those - that is exactly what an exigent circumstance is."

(R223-225). The trial court additionally determined that "[t]here was no strip search." (R226-227).

Appellant entered a no contest plea to the charges and was sentenced to 17.1 months imprisonment. (R144-146, 151-153, 235-241). The trial court ruled that the motion to suppress was dispositive of the case. (R238).

On direct appeal, the state argued in its answer brief that the search was not a strip search and did not violate §901.211, Fla. Stat. (2003), the strip search statute, and that probable cause did exist to arrest Mr. Jenkins when he was removed at gunpoint from his car. (II:Tab III). The state did not on its own raise the question of whether the strip search statute provided for the use of the exclusionary rule as a remedy. (II:Tab III). The district court held oral arguments in the case on November 3, 2004. On June 29, 2005, the district court ordered supplemental briefs, addressed to whether the exclusionary rule applied to statutory strip search violations found in §901.211, Fla. Stat. (2003). (II:Tab II, Tab IV, Tab V).

In the supplemental briefs, the state argued that the police had acted in good faith and that the strip search statute specifically provided that damages are the sole remedy

if the statute is violated. Petitioner argued below that the public strip search in this case was prohibited by the state and federal constitutions, as well as by §901.211, Fla. Stat. (2003), and that the police lacked probable cause to arrest Jenkins. (II:Tab I). In the supplemental briefs, Mr. Petitioner argued that this Court's decisions in Benefield v. State, 160 So.2d 706 (Fla. 1964) and State v. Johnson, 814 So.2d 390 (Fla. 2002) required exclusion of the evidence in this case, and that the police did not act in good faith by conducting a public search of Mr. Jenkins' boxer shorts and buttocks in an urban public parking lot. Petitioner additionally argued below that the plain language of the strip search statute does not preclude or limit remedies for a violation of its provisions.

The district court issued a decision ruling that the police had probable cause to arrest Mr. Jenkins and that the police lot strip search constitutionally parking was permitted, but violated the strip search statute, §901.211, Fla. Stat. (2003). The district court found the police had violated the strip search statutory provisions requiring that strip searches be conducted "on premises where the search cannot be observed by persons not physically conducting or observing the search pursuant to this section," and the requirement that prior written authorization for the strip search be obtained. Jenkins v. State, 924 So.2d at 29.

The district court concluded, however, that the exclusionary rule was not a statutorily authorized remedy for a violation of §901.211, Fla. Stat. (2003), and on those grounds affirmed the trial court's denial of the motion to suppress. Id. at 33-34. The district court stated that the statute did refer to remedies, but did not specify the applicability of the exclusionary rule. Id. at 33. Since the provision mentioning remedies did not specifically refer to the exclusionary rule, the district court reasoned the exclusionary rule was not statutorily authorized. Id. at 33-34. The Second District certified conflict with the Fourth District's opinion in D.F. Id. at 34.

Appellant filed a Notice to Invoke this Court's jurisdiction based on the certified conflict. This Court ordered briefs on the merits without determining whether to grant jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court erred in concluding that the state and federal constitutions permit as reasonable a search into the buttocks of an eighteen-year-old detainee in a public gas station parking lot located near a busy intersection in Tampa, Florida, and conducted during normal business hours. The record below contains no factual proof of exigent circumstances requiring that the search be conducted in this manner to avoid destruction of the evidence. This unnecessary and publicly humiliating search was unreasonable and violated state and federal prohibitions against unreasonable the searches and seizures.

The district court wrongly construed the state strip search statute in concluding that the exclusionary rule is not a permissible remedy for a violation of the legislatively mandated code of conduct for police strip searches. The statute contains no provision specifying what remedies are available for violations of the statute, but the law does state that existing civil remedies are not restricted by the strip statute provisions. The district court's strained interpretation of the strip statute law is not consistent with a plain reading of the law and contradicts the stated legislative intent.

The district court erred in determining that probable cause for an arrest was properly determined from a CI's identification of Mr. Jenkins as the person who had recently offered to sell the CI cocaine. The police observed no actions by Mr. Jenkins indicating he was about to sell any drugs, but arrested him immediately after the CI identification. Reversal and discharge are required.

ARGUMENT ISSUE I.

WHETHER THE FEDERAL AND STATE CONSTITUTIONAL PROTECTIONS AGAINST UNREASONABLE SEARCHES AND SEIZURES PERMIT POLICE TO CONDUCT PUBLIC THE А VISUAL INSPECTION OF AND SEIZURE FROM AN EIGHTEEN YEAR OLD'S BUTTOCKS IN AN URBAN GAS STATION PARKING LOT DURING NORMAL BUSINESS HOURS, ABSENT EVIDENCE THAT THE SOUGHT CONTRABAND ΒE REMOVED OR DESTROYED COULD ΙF THE DETAINEE WERE ESCORTED TΟ Α PRIVATE LOCATION?

In 1765, Lord Camden, Chief Justice of the Common Pleas, in England, declared that the issuance of general search warrants, which originated with the Star Chamber, was an illegal practice. Boyd v. United States, 116 U.S. 616, 626 (1886); See 3 May, Const. Hist. England, c. 11; Broom, Const. Law, 558; Cox, Inst. Eng. Gov. 437. In so ruling, Lord Camdem stated, "It is very certain that the law obligeth no man to accuse himself, because the necessary means of compelling self-accusation, falling upon the innocent as well as the guilty, would be both cruel and unjust; and it would seem that this search for evidence is disallowed upon the same principle. Then, too, the innocent would be confounded with the guilty." Boyd v. United States, 116 U.S. at 629.

In ruling on the constitutionality of a law permitting the government to subpoena evidence from the accused, the United States Supreme Court stated in 1886, "It is not the

breaking of his doors, and the rummaging of his drawers, that constitutes the essence of the offense; but it is the invasion of his indefeasible right of personal security, personal liberty, and private property, where that right has never been forfeited by his conviction of some public offense,-it is the invasion of this sacred right which underlies and constitutes the essence of Lord CAMDEN's judgment." Id. at 630.

Then Judge Pariente has stated that "It is the manner in which the search is conducted in a given case which may violate the Fourth Amendment." D.F. v. State, 682 So.2d 149, 152 (Fla. 4th <u>DCA 1996)</u>. In determining whether Fourth Amendment principles and the Florida statute governing strip searches were violated when a juvenile was searched after an arrest on warrants for a traffic offense, Judge Pariente relied on the following legal analysis: "As the third district stated in Gonzalez v. State, 541 So.2d 1354, 1355-56 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), a case dealing with the strip search of a prisoner: '[0]ne of the constitutional rights retained by a prisoner, at least to some minimal extent, is the protection of the Fourth Amendment against unreasonable searches and seizures. Bell v. Wolfish, 441 U.S. 520, 99 S.Ct. 1861, 60 L.Ed.2d 447 (1979). With respect to searches of the person of a prisoner, the court balances four factors in determining whether such searches are reasonable under the Fourth Amendment: (1) the scope of the intrusion, (2) the manner in

which it was conducted, (3) the justification for initiating it, and (4) the place in which it was conducted. <u>Bell; Vera v.</u> <u>State, 400 So.2d 1008, 1010 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981)</u>. Applying these standards, it seems clear to us that "a more substantial showing should be necessary to justify a search of the person [of a prisoner] when it involves a strip search or an intrusion into the body." <u>4 W. La Fave, Search and Seizure §</u> <u>10.9(b)</u>, at 110 (2d ed. 1987). The "more intense, unusual, prolonged, uncomfortable, unsafe or undignified the procedure, or the more it intrudes upon essential standards of privacy, the greater the requirement that the procedure be found necessary." <u>People v. West, 170 Cal.App.3d 326, 216 Cal.Rptr.</u> <u>195, 200-01 (1985)</u>.

In <u>Rankin v. Colman, 476 So.2d 234 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985),</u> review denied, 484 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1986), the fifth district applied the same balancing test to a case involving a strip search conducted after an arrest for failure to produce a driver's license. The court in <u>Rankin v. Colman</u>, held that 'a strip search and body cavity search of persons arrested for minor traffic offenses is prima facie unreasonable and an unwarranted intrusion on the personal privacy of such persons, at least without showing some justification by the arresting authority." <u>Id. at 238</u>. 'There must be a strong showing justifying such search in view of the minor character of the charge.' <u>Id</u>." <u>D.F. v. State, 682 So.2d at 152-153</u>.

More recently the en banc panel of the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, following the time honored principles of constitutional jurisprudence, held that the federal constitution requires that strip searches of arrested detainees be conducted in a reasonable manner. Evans v. Stephens, 407 F.3d 1272, 1281 (2005). In Evans the court analyzed the facts of that case by scrutinizing "the totality of the circumstances--for example, the physical force, anal penetration, unsanitariness of the process, terrifying language, and lack of privacy--collectively establish a constitutional violation, especially when the search was being made in the absence of exigent circumstances requiring the kind of immediate action that might make otherwise questionable police conduct, at least arguably, reasonable." Id. at 1282.

In this case in which the police used a public parking lot to visually inspect an eighteen-year-old young man's buttocks and the police officer seized with bare hands a plastic bag tucked into Petitioner's buttocks, the search and seizure were not conducted in a reasonable manner. The police public search inside of Mr. Jenkins's boxer shorts and the seizure from his buttocks violated Mr. Jenkins' federal and state constitutional rights to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. Art I, §12, Fla. Const.; U.S. Const. Amend. IV, XIV. The decision of the district court must be

quashed.

Here the police were searching for suspected cocaine because a confidential informant (CI) identified Mr. Jenkins as the person who had just called him and offered to sell him cocaine. Without waiting for the CI and Mr. Jenkins to even meet, the police arrested Mr. Jenkins. The police then searched the car he was driving and his person and found no drugs. There is no evidence in this record that the police had any reason for suspecting Mr. Jenkins had placed contraband down his pants or between his buttocks or had concealed drugs underneath his clothing.

This record is barren of any proof of what quantity of drugs was to be sold, where the actual sale was to occur, and the manner the seller stored the goods. Because the state adduced no facts indicating Mr. Jenkins had contraband stored in the private sections of his body, the police search inside his buttocks amounted to a fishing expedition to find the cocaine. To find this key evidence, the police could not constitutionally search inside Mr. Jenkins' private bodily areas, looking into his pants and buttocks in an open and completely public urban area which the Tampa police officer described as "fairly busy." (R175). Such a search was not reasonable under the federal and state constitution.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution guarantees individuals the right to be secure in "their

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