IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONALD ELDRENAL JENKINS,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC06-839

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW OF DECISION FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COUERT OF APPEAL, STATE OF FLORIDA

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Chief CAssistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, Tampa Criminal

Appeals

Florida Bar No. 238538

KATHERINE COOMBS CLINE Assistant Attorney General

Florida Bar No.135747 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 (813)287-7900 Fax (813)281-5500

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
ISSUE I: WHETHER THE SEARCH IN THIS CASE WAS REASONABLE UNDER THE FEDERAL AND STATE CONSTITUTIONS. (Restated) 17
ISSUE II: WHETHER THE FLORIDA STRIP SEARCH STATUTE PROVIDES THAT VIOLATIONS OF THAT STATUTE BE REMEDIED THROUGH THE EXCLUSIONARY RULE. (Restated)
ISSUE III: WHETHER THE POLICE HAD PROBABLE CAUSE TO ARREST THE PETITIONER. (Restated)
CONCLUSION 40
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 40
CERTIFICATE OF FONT COMPLIANCE

TABLE OF CITATIONS

CASES

<u>Arizona v. Evans</u> , 514 U.S. 1 (1995)
<pre>Bell v. Wolfish, 441 U.S. 520, 99 S. Ct. 1861, 60 L. Ed. 2d 447 (1979)15,16</pre>
Benefield v. State, 160 So.2d 706 (Fla. 1964)
<u>Cillo v. State</u> , 849 So.2d 353 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003)
City of Kettering v. Hollen, 64 Ohio St. 2d 232, 416 N.E.2d 598 (Ohio 1980)
<u>Clifford v. State</u> , 750 So.2d 92 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999)
<pre>D.F. v. State, 682 So.2d 149 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) 11,18-22</pre>
<pre>Everette v. State, 736 So.2d 726 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999)</pre>
<u>Freeman v. State</u> , 559 So.2d 295 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990)
<u>Gonzalez v. State</u> , 541 So.2d 1354 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989)
<u>Graham v. State</u> , 714 So.2d 1142 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998)
<u>Gulley v. State</u> , 501 So.2d 1388 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987)
<u>Henry v. State</u> , 613 So.2d 429 (Fla. 1992)
<u>Hudson v. Michigan</u> , 2006 U.S. LEXIS 4677 (June 15, 2006)

<u>Illinois v. Gates</u> ,
462 U.S. 213, 103 S. Ct. 2317, 76 L. Ed. 2d 527 (1983) 3
Jenkins v. State,
924 So.2d 20 (Fla. 2D DCA 2006) 11,16,20-24,26-2
Laster v. State,
31 Fla. L. Weekly D1371 (Fla. 2d DCA May 12, 2006) 1
Melendez v. Sheriff of Palm Beach County,
743 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) 2
Mitchell v. State,
787 So.2d 224 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001)
Nathan v. Municipality of Anchorage,
955 P.2d 528 (Alaska App. 1998) 2
Ornelas v. United States,
517 U.S. 690, 116 S. Ct. 1657, 134 L. Ed. 2d 911 (1996) 2
Owens v. State,
854 So.2d 737 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003)
People v. Hawkins,
468 Mich. 488, 668 N.W.2d 602 (Mich. 2003)
State v. Bravo,
565 So.2d 857 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990)
State v. Brown,
556 So.2d 790 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990)
State v. Butler,
655 So.2d 1123 (Fla. 1995)
State v. Flowers,
566 So.2d 50 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990)
State v. Hadden,
629 So.2d 1043 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993)
State v. Hetland,
366 So.2d 831 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979)
State v. Hillman,

780 So.2d 156 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001)
<pre>State v. Jenkins, 82 Conn. App. 111, 842 A.2d 1148 (Conn. App. Ct. 2004) 16</pre>
<u>State v. Johnson</u> , 814 So.2d 390) (Fla. 2002)
<u>State v. Rizo</u> , 463 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984)
<u>State v. Smith</u> , 342 N.C. 407, 464 S.E.2d 45 (N.C. 1995)
<u>State v. Webb</u> , 398 So.2d 820 (Fla. 1981)
<u>United States v. Alexander</u> , 755 F. Supp. 448 (D.C. Dist. 1991)
<u>United States v. Caceres</u> , 440 U.S. 741 (1979) 22
<u>United States v. Michaelian</u> , 803 F.2d 1042 (9th Cir. 1986)
<u>United States v. Thompson</u> , 936 F.2d 1249 (11th Cir. 1991)
<u>United States v. Williams</u> , 209 F.3d 940 (7th Cir. 2000)
<u>Vandiver v. State</u> , 779 So.2d 289 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) 31,32
Welch v. Rice, 636 So.2d 172 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994)
<u>Winfrey v. State</u> , 78 P.3d 725 (Alaska App. 2003)
STATUTES
§901.211 Fla. Stat. (2003) 11,12,13,20,21,23,26
§901.19 Fla. Stat. (1963) 24

§395.3025	Fla.	Stat.	(2001)	 26

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Donald Jenkins was charged with possession of cocaine with intent to sell or deliver. (R8). Jenkins filed a motion to suppress. (R15-22). A hearing was held September 17, 2003. (R8). At the hearing, Officer Kellie Daniel testified that she has been with the Tampa Police Department for over six and a half years, working street level narcotics. (R166). On January 15, 2003, Officer Daniel came into contact with Appellant, who she identified in court. (R166). On that day, Officer Daniel was working with a confidential informant, with whom she had successfully worked before. (R166). Officer Daniel had used this confidential informant about three or four times in similar page-outs, and other people have also used him. (R169). Also, Officer Daniel has used this confidential informant about two other times in search warrant buys. (R169). Each of the three or four times that Officer Daniel had used this confidential informant; it resulted in an arrest. (R170). There was only one situation where the confidential informant actually got into the vehicle, but when the seller saw the officers, he got spooked and tossed the confidential informant out of the car. (R170). The seller in the car got away. (R170).

The confidential informant called in to volunteer his services on January 15th; Officer Daniel did not call him.

(R171). This confidential informant just wanted to work. (R167). That day, he called another officer and said, "Listen, do you need anything?" The officer responded, "Yeah, we're going to hit the street. Do you have anything?" The confidential informant said "yeah" and that he would work with them. (R167).

The confidential informant advised her that he knew a man named "D," from whom he had gotten dope before. (R166). The confidential informant said he could call "D" and meet with him. (R166). The confidential informant used Officer Daniel's cell phone, talked with a man named "D" and ordered a quantity of cocaine. (R167). Officer Daniel watched the confidential informant dial the phone. (R182). When Appellant's cell phone was later seized from his vehicle it had Officer Daniel's number on it. (R182;183). The confidential informant described "D" as a tall, black male and gave a cell phone number for him. (R171). The confidential informant said that "D" is going to come to the Texaco at Nebraska and Osborne, in about fifteen minutes, driving a brown boxy four door Chevy. (R174). The area of Nebraska and Osborne is known for drugs, and Officer Daniel frequents it with her assignments. (R168).

Officer Daniel drove the confidential informant to the Texaco and dropped him off in the parking lot (R175). Officer Daniel was situated directly across the street with a full view

of the Texaco station. (R168). She was able to maintain a visual of the confidential informant. (R176). The confidential informant was never out of the officers' sight; while Officer Dausch drove, Officer Daniel kept an eye on the confidential informant. (R177). The confidential informant was standing in the parking lot, waiting for "D" to arrive. (R168). The Chevy parked inside the parking lot by the Texaco. (R168). confidential informant saw the Chevy pulling in with "D" in it and ran across the street. (R168). He told Officer Daniel, "That's him; that's him". (R168). The confidential informant was supposed to take off his hat, as a signal that it was "D". (R177-8). The confidential informant, however, was nervous and ran across the street, telling Officer Daniel, "That's him; that's him." (R177-8). Officer Daniel testified that, even after a year, confidential informants are still nervous when they are doing it. (R178). Although it was not the correct signal, it sufficed. (R178). Along with the confidential informant identifying the car, Officer Daniel also saw the fourdoor, brown Chevy pull into the parking lot. (R168). Officer Daniel advised units to move in, and they detained the suspect. (R168). Officer Rego detained Appellant, and Officer Daniel was behind him. (R179). Officer Rego had his weapon out (T181). Appellant was a suspect in a narcotics investigation at that time; and they had reasonable suspicion. (R179). Corporal

Howard went across the street with the confidential informant, who said that was definitely him. (R180). At that time, Officer Daniel walked away from the scene, and it was taken over by Sergeant Graham. (R180).

Officer Todd Rego testified that, on January 15, 2003, he worked with Officer Daniel in a QUAD capacity, in a buy-bust transaction at Osborne and Nebraska (R185-6). Officer Rego was about two blocks north, when he received the call from Officer Daniel to move in. (R186). Officer Daniel described the vehicle as a brown, box Chevy (R186). He arrived in about fifteen to twenty seconds. (R187). Officer Rego arrived first with his partner, Ely Vasquez. (R187). Officer Rego's contact with Appellant was limited to detaining Appellant. (R187). He pulled up, got out of his vehicle, and took Appellant out of the car at gunpoint. (R186). Officer Rego opened Appellant's car door, took Appellant out of the car, and handcuffed him. (R187). Officer Rego did not search the car; that was the extent of his contact with Appellant. (R187).

Officer Kevin Bonollo testified that he also worked with the QUAD squad on January 15, 2003, assisting Officer Daniel on one of the bust teams for the page-out. (R190-2). Officer Bonollo was located about one block north and one block west of the location (R192). It took him about twenty seconds to arrive at the Texaco (R192). Officer Bonollo positioned his vehicle

behind the brown, boxy Chevy, which was the description of the car given to him by Officer Daniel. (R192). At that time, Officer Rego was already assisting Appellant out of the car. (R192). Appellant was brought out of the car for the officers' safety. (R200). Officer Bonollo did not have his weapon drawn. (R199). Officer Bonollo searched Appellant's car, after he was placed in handcuffs. (R193). Officer Bonollo found a cell phone in the front seat, which he gave to Officer Daniel. (R193). After no narcotics were found in the car, Officer Bonollo searched Appellant by performing a pat-down. (R193;200). Officer Bonollo was looking for narcotics and anything that would hurt him. (R201). Appellant had \$641 in his front pocket, but no narcotics were found. (R193). Sergeant Graham, a supervisor, advised Officer Bonollo to see if the narcotics were inside his clothing. (R193;203). Officer Bonollo pulled back the waistband of Appellant's boxer shorts and inside the crack of his buttocks, sticking up, was a regular, Ziplock-type sandwich bag (R193-4). The bag was twisted up, and Officer Bonollo could see the top of the plastic bag, sticking up about two inches (R193-4). Officer Bonollo did not put his hand inside Appellant's buttocks (R204). It was a pretty large sandwich bag, and it was sticking out. (R204). The crack cocaine was at the bottom of the bag (R194). Appellant was wearing baggie, blue jeans, where the waist came down low, and the boxers could be seen. (R194). At no time was Appellant asked to disrobe. (R14). Officer Bonollo had no additional contact with Appellant. (R194). There were eight to ten officers there (R194). Officer Bonollo stayed with Appellant until he was transported (R195).

The facts as reported in the Second District's opinion, are as follows:

At the hearing on the motion to suppress, testimony was given by Tampa Department officers, as well as by Jenkins, concerning the circumstances which led to Jenkins' arrest. Officer Kellie Daniel testified that she "was working with a confidential informant" with whom she had successfully worked in the past. According to Daniel, the informant advised her that he knew a man named "D" from whom the informant had previously received "dope" and whom he could call on the phone to "order a quantity of cocaine." Using Daniel's cell phone, the informant called "D" and ordered cocaine, while Daniel listening was to informant's "side of the conversation." The informant related to Daniel that "D" would be going to the Texaco station at the intersection of Nebraska and Osborne in about fifteen minutes and that "D" would "be driving a brown boxy 4-door Chevy." The informant provided no further information regarding the suspect other than "a vague description of a tall black male."

The Texaco station was "directly across the street" from where Daniel was located. Daniel "had full view of the Texaco." Subsequently, the informant, after seeing a 4-door brown Chevy pulling into the Texaco Station, came "running across the street" from the station, telling Daniel, "'that's him, that's him.'" When the Chevy parked in the parking lot by the Texaco Station, Daniel "ordered units to move in where the vehicle was located, at which time the vehicles moved in and detained the suspect."

Daniel also testified that the area of the Texaco Station is one "known for drugs." She explained her prior experience with the informant: "I've used him in similar pageouts where we've arrested, gotten a quantity of dope," as well as "in search warrant buys." Daniel testified that she had "used [the informant] about three or four times" in incidents similar to that involved in the instant case. With one exception, those incidents resulted in an arrest. The exception involved circumstances where the suspect "got spooked" and fled because he observed law enforcement. According to the testimony of Officer Todd Rego, he "took [Jenkins] out of the car at qunpoint," and "placed handcuffs on him." Rego testified he "felt we had probable that [Jenkins] was about to commit a felony" but that he "was just detaining him."

Officer Kevin Bonollo testified that he arrived on the scene as Officer Rego was assisting Jenkins out of the car. According to Bonollo, he searched the car but did not find anything. He then searched Jenkins but "was unable to find any narcotics on his person." Bonollo was then advised by Sergeant Graham-the supervising officer-"'to see if [the cocaine] was inside [Jenkins'] clothing anywhere.'" Bonollo testified:

I opened up the defendant's boxer shorts and inside his butt crack sticking up was a sandwich bag, like a regular Ziploc type of sandwich bag and it was twisted. The dope, the crack cocaine was at the bottom. It was twisted up[,] and I could see the top of the plastic about two inches.

Bonollo testified that he then pulled out the plastic bag containing the cocaine.

Jenkins gave testimony conflicting with Officer Bonollo's testimony concerning the retrieval of the plastic bag containing the cocaine. According to Jenkins, Bonollo "ordered [him] to pull down [his] pants and bend over." Jenkins testified that when he did not com-ply, the officers forced him to comply by grabbing him from each side,

pulling him over, and bending him down. Jenkins further testified he was "completely naked in the buttocks area" when the officers "dropped [his] pants to [his] knees... and pulled [his] boxers down." At the conclusion of the hearing on the motion to suppress, the trial court concluded that "there was probable cause to do a search based on what [the court] heard from the police officers." The court also found that "there was no strip search, not what is typically called a strip search."

Jenkins v. State, 924 So.2d 20 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006).

The Second District held that under the totality of circumstances, the police in the instant case had probable cause to arrest the defendant and that the search was reasonable under the Fourth Amendment because the officers had a particularized basis for believing defendant had cocaine concealed on his person. The District court further held that the search was a strip search within the meaning of Fla. Stat. §901.211 (2003) and that the strip search in this case did not meet the requirements of §901.211(3). However, the district court held that the §901.211 did not authorize exclusion of the evidence as a remedy for violation of the statute and affirmed the trial court's decision. The Second District concluded that "the application of the exclusionary rule for violations of section 901.211 cannot be justified. Given the legislature's specific attention to the issue of remedies, it would be overreaching to read a remedy into the statutory scheme when the remedy was not

recognized or authorized by the legislature." <u>Id</u>. The Court certified conflict with <u>D.F. v. State</u>, 682 So.2d 149 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996),1 in which the appellate court held that evidence obtained in a strip search conducted in violation of §901.211 Florida Statutes must be suppressed.

The Petitioner raises three issues in his Initial Brief.

However, Issue II is the only issue for which the Second

District Court of Appeal certified conflict to this Court.

¹ The Second District also certified conflict with $\underline{\text{D.F.}}$ on the same issue in $\underline{\text{Laster v. State}}$, 31 Fla. L. Weekly D1371 (Fla. 2d DCA May 12, 2006). $\underline{\text{Laster}}$ is pending in Case No. SC06-1016.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I: The scope of the search incident to arrest in this case was minimally intrusive under the circumstances, it was based upon probable cause, and was reasonable under both the Federal and State constitutions. The officers had particularized basis for believing the defendant had cocaine concealed on his person and properly balanced the need for the particular search against the invasion of personal rights. The trial court did not err in denying the Appellant's motion to suppress and the Second District did not err in affirming the trial court's order.

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